Nicholas Hawksmoore Christ Church - Spitalfields

Basic info:

Christ Church was built between the years 1714 and 1729 as part of the church building programme initiated by the Fifty New Churches act of 1711, backed by Queen Anne, which was implemented by four different parliamentary commissions. 

Purpose:

At the time, there were fears that ‘godless thousands’ outside the City of London had no adequate church provision, and that non-conformists – including large numbers of French Huguenot silk weavers – were moving into Spitalfields and bringing their non-conformist worshipping ways with them. 

The Commission appointed to build the 50 new churches stipulated that the new buildings should have tall spires so that they would tower above the smaller, non-conformist chapels! 

The idea was to fund the work through taxes on coal coming into London, although monies ran low in about 1719 and building progressed fitfully. One of the two surveyors employed by the first Commission, at an initial rate of £200 per year, was Nicholas Hawksmoor – a Nottinghamshire-born architect who had worked with Sir Christopher Wren since his late teens. Of the 12 churches completed (out of the projected 50), six were the work of Hawksmoor, and Christ Church was his masterpiece.

Architecture

The composition of the church demonstrates Hawksmoor's characteristic abruptness: the very plain rectangular box of the nave is surmounted at its west end by a broad tower of three stages topped by a steeple more gothic than classical. The magnificent Tuscan porch with its semi-circular pediment is bluntly attached to the west end: it was a late addition to the design intended to add further support to the tower.

Like those of Hawksmoor’s other London churches and many of Wren's, the central space of the nave is organised around two axes, the shorter originally emphasised by two entrances of which only that to the south remains. It has a richly decorated flat ceiling and is lit by a clerestory. The aisles are roofed with elliptical barrel-vaults carried on a raised Composite order (cf. Wren's St James, Piccadilly), and the same order is used for the screens across the east and west ends. The Venetian window at the east may show his ease with using Palladian motifs, or it may be a rhyme with the arched pediment of the entrance portico, repeated in the wide main stage of the tower.

‘During the next two centuries, only the most perceptive – such as Soane and Cockerell – really understood Hawksomoor’s architecture, and only in recent decades has he received the recognition and attention which was his due. Hawksmoor is now prominently placed in the Pantheon of British art, and our modern architects are happy to worship at this shrine. Perhaps it is the utterly uncompromising monumentality of his work, sometimes verging upon the brutal, which endears him to modern masters like Lasdun and Stirling; but it is also his thoughtful and harmonious originality within a vital tradition which establishes Hawksmoor among the truly great.'’

Gavin Stamp, architectural historian

Nicholas Hawksmoor (c1661–1736)

‘By 1700 [Hawksmoor] had emerged as a major architectural personality in his own right. In the course of the next twenty years he was to prove himself to be one of the great masters of the English baroque, more assured in his command of the classical vocabulary than the untrained Vanbrugh, more imaginative in his vision than the intellectual Wren. No one understood better than Hawksmoor the dynamic deployment of architectural form or the dramatic possibilities of light and shade. The complex forms of the London churches, whether in internal planning or in external embellishment, are as eloquent as anything by Borromini, the Italian architect with whom Hawksmoor most obviously invites comparison.’
Colvin, Biographical Dictionary

Nicholas Hawksmoor was born at East Drayton, Nottinghamshire, probably in 1661 (or, according to some authorities, 1666). We know little of his early life or education but at the age of eighteen he was employed as clerk to Christopher Wren, then Surveyor of the King’s Works. During the 1680s and ’90s Hawksmoor learned the various aspects of a surveyor’s craft, and became responsible in his own right for some of the jobs within the Office of Works, including the Writing School at Christ’s Hospital, London of 1692–95 (demolished 1902), and a project for the rebuilding after fire damage in 1694 of the gothic church of St. Mary’s, Warwick. From 1689 he was Clerk of Works for the re-building of Kensington Palace and in the 1690s took up the design, probably started by Wren, of the house at Easton Neston. At Greenwich Hospital from 1705 to 1729 he was Assistant Surveyor, then until 1733 Clerk of Works and almost certainly responsible for the design of the King William Block with its giant columns and pilasters spanning four floors.
Architectural Description

The church is planned within a rectangle, measuring outside 76 feet in width and 143 feet in length. The nave, some 94 feet long and 35 feet wide, has a low clerestory over the high arcades which open to the aisles, each intended to contain two full-length galleries although only one appears to have been erected. The width is decreased at the east end by concave quadrant walls, meeting the square-ended altar recess, 20 feet wide and 15 feet deep, which is flanked by small sacristies entered from the staircase lobbies at the end of each aisle. Similar but slightly larger lobbies at the west end flank the vestibule, which is basically oblong in plan, measuring some 25 feet by 9 feet, with three doorways from the portico and three corresponding entrances to the nave. The vestibule and the Vestry meeting-room over it, which is an oblong measuring some 27 feet by 14 feet, are contained in the massive first stage of the tower. This projects for about one-third of its depth from the body of the church, and the tetrastyle portico projects a further 13 feet, making the total length of the building some 170 feet.

The exterior has a noble simplicity and its truly Roman immensity contrasts poignantly with the modest scale of the neighbouring streets. The east end and the side elevations are fairly straightforward in design, but the western portico and steeple are highly original features.
A broad flight of steps, bounded by massive pedestals and broken by a half-landing, ascends to the portico which is designed on the lines of a giant Venetian window, powerfully restating the theme of the tower's second stage and so integrating these very important elements in the composition of the front. The intercolumniations vary in width; the middle one is approximately 13 feet, that on each side is 7 feet, and that of the returns 10 feet. The Tuscan order is used, with columns raised on plinths above square pedestals with panelled dies but no cornices. The entablature, consisting of architrave, plain frieze and block-cornice, is carried across the side bays and returned inside the portico to stop against the wall face, the block-cornice being mitred with the dentilled great cornice that is carried all round the body of the building. The cornice is turned in a semi-circular arch across the middle bay, which is ceiled with a plaster vault ornamented with square coffers. The drawing reproduced as Plate 11a shows the methods and materials used in constructing this portico. The pedestals and columns are of stone, but the entablatures are of brick, resting on relieving arches over oak lintels. 

Without the portico, the lofty first stage of the tower would have formed a front with three un moulded straight-headed recesses, providing the bare essentials of an engaged portico with the dentilled great cornice articulated in the normal way. The middle recess is appreciably wider than the others, and in its angles are curious quarter-pilasters with block bases and caps. Each recess contains a doorway with a window above it, those in the middle bay being slightly wider than the others. The round-arched doorways have moulded imposts and moulded archivolts with scrolled keystones, each with a cornice-head and an inverted scallop-shell overlapping the moulded face, one of Hawksmoor's rare indulgences in the external use of carved ornament. The windows over the doorways have arched heads, the middle one being elliptical and the others round, and all are dressed with band architraves rising from plain sills.

The front face between the great and attic cornices of the tower's first stage corresponds to the clerestory-attic of the nave, and would have been plain but for the large lunette window lighting the ringing-chamber. 

The side elevations of the second stage are not symmetrical, for the boldly projecting pilaster engaged to the outer angle of each western buttress is not repeated on the eastern buttress. The crowning entablature and the block-cornice are returned round the buttress and inside the deep concave recess, the cornice breaking to form the impost for a moulded arch which echoes that on the front face but is worked on the curved face. This arch frames a flat surface containing a tall rectangular opening, louvred, that rises from a pedestal containing a circular opening and is framed by a band-architrave with its eared head broken by a triple keystone. Over this is a circular opening in a band-architrave, its radius being concentric with that of the framing arch.

The east elevation of the tower is more curious than beautiful, for the tall arch-headed opening is closely flanked by massive buttresses with concave inner faces. These buttresses, stopping off just above the level of the block-cornice, are physically a vertical extension of the nave's western apse, and the southern buttress contains a stone spiral staircase.

The third and last stage of the tower is square in plan and each face contains an arch-headed opening with a wide plain margin recessed in an enclosing arch, its moulded archivolt springing from a cornice-impost. This cornice is continued round the buttresses that flank each face and stop off with a blocking-course above the cornice. The buttresses on the west and east faces are shallow, but those on the north and south faces project boldly and curve out in concave ramps towards their bases, effectively uniting this stage with the wider faces below. Above the moulded cornice is a slightly recessed attic, each face arcaded with three arches, unmoulded but with band-imposts, each middle arch open and the others blind. This attic forms the base of the stone spire, which is octangular in plan, the wide cardinal faces being modelled with a sunk panel whereas the concave angles are plain and have dwarf obelisks merging into them. As originally designed and built, each cardinal face contained three louvred dormers, proportioned to their position and framed with moulded architraves surmounted by urns, and down each concave angle extended a chain of acanthus crockets. The spire has an incurved moulded capping, replacing the original cornice capping, and finishes with a ball and vane.

The interior of the church is noble in scale and grand in effect, but its frigid splendour is far removed in spirit from the rich warmth of Wren's comparable churches. This, of all Hawksmoor's church interiors, is the most antique in conception, and might be described as an aisled basilica adapted to the needs of a galleried auditorium church. A fine regard for Roman precedent may have prompted Hawksmoor to place colonnades before the east and west ’tribunals’, just as the need for the congregation to see and hear well from the galleries may have led him to depart from Classical models and use widely spaced arcades instead of close colonnades between the nave and aisles. The unusual height is, of course, accounted for by the intention to include two galleries in each aisle and give clerestory lighting to the nave. The nave ceiling is conventionally flat, its regular succession of transverse ribs expressing the roof structure but weakly ignoring the strongly articulated piers that break the arcades. A series of transverse barrel-vaults ceil the aisles, a device already used with great success by Wren in St. James's, Piccadilly.
As already remarked, it was first intended that the arches of the nave arcades should be borne on single columns, giving a sequence of five equal bays with a narrow bay at each end, and the side walls were almost certainly begun in conformity with this idea of regular spacing. The replacement of the second column from each end by a pier, with half-columns laterally engaged, could only be achieved by decreasing the width of the flanking intercolumniations. The central bay is, therefore, wider than the others, and its arch forms a high segment with its crown level with those of the flanking semi-circular arches. Furthermore, the windows in the aisle walls are not centred with the arcade except in the central bay, being evenly spaced in bays of uniform width between single pilasters, in accordance with the original scheme.

The plain-shafted columns and pilasters of the Composite order stand on corniced pedestals, their unusually tall dies being originally faced with panelled wainscot. Each column supports an entablature which is carried across the aisle to an abrupt stop against the side wall, resting there on a respondent pilaster. The entablature breaks forward over the half-columns engaged laterally to each pier, and over the pilaster projecting on the nave face, a projection carried up to the ceiling. From these entablatures spring the arches of the nave arcades and the barrel-vaults that ceil each bay of the aisle, except the narrow bay at each end where the ceiling is flat. The entablature is decorated but the architrave is omitted and the frieze is plain. The cornice, however, is adorned with enriched and dentilled mouldings, and rosettes. The easternmost entablature, before the narrow bay, is continued unbroken from the north wall to the south and supported by two additional columns in the nave. 
The transverse barrel-vaults over the aisles are of plaster, the middle three being coffered with a pattern of related hexagons, recessed within enriched mouldings and containing formal flowers. Each end vault is plain except fora large acanthusboss placed centrally. The flat ceiling over the nave is of plaster, with moulded and enriched ribs forming a regular pattern of rectangular compartments, a wide series centred between two narrow series. The transverse ribs rest on the clerestory pilasters, and centred between them are short parallel ribs, the former intersecting and the latter stopping against the longitudinal ribs which centre over the two columns in the east and west screen-colonnades. The rib soffits are decorated with a guilloche-band, the intersections being overlaid by floral rosettes, and the cornice-surrounds of the compartments have a dentil-course and enriched members. Each compartment contains a floral or foliage boss, proportionate to the size of the compartment. The large ventilator-grille with a key-fret surround in the central compartment probably dates from 1822.

The west end of the nave echoes the screen motif of the east end, but the side bays are ceiled over behind the entablature, which is omitted from the wide middle bay. It is possible that this was an alteration made around 1734 to accommodate the organ case, and the accounts suggest that the entablature was originally surmounted by an open balustrade of deal, probably painted to represent stone. The side bays contain two galleries, the front of the first being placed level with the column bases, and the second about halfway up the column shafts. These galleries rest on beams extending from the columns to the back wall, and cross-beams placed just behind the line of the columns. The fronts, which are designed as panelled pedestals, are can tilevered forward on finely carved trusses projecting from the cross-beams and placed below the narrow projecting dies which break the fronts. The faces between these dies are formed with oblong raised-and- fielded panels, and those at either end are splayed back with a concave curve to reveal the shafts of the columns.
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Figure 38:

Christ Church, carved bracket from gallery front
